IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ANDRIA SAWYERS

APPELLANT

VS.

CASE NO. 2008-IA-01370-SCT

HERRIN-GEAR CHEVROLET COMPANY, INC. & AMERICAN BANKERS INSURANCE COMPANY OF FLORIDA

APPELLEES

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representation are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Andria Sawyers (Appellant)
- 2. Timothy J. Matusheski (Attorney for Appellant)
- 3. Eric Tiebauer (Attorney for Appellant)

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. The arbitration agreement between Sawyers and Herrin cannot be enforced because it is substantively unconscionable.
- 2. The arbitration agreement between Sawyers and Herrin cannot be enforced because its general purpose is to aid and protect Herrin-Gear and American's illegal enterprise of selling and administering unregistered insurance products.
- 3. The arbitration agreement between Sawyers and Herrin does not apply to Sawyers' claims against American because the arbitration agreement clearly limits the parties who can enforce the arbitration agreement to Sawyers and Herrin.
- 4. Sawyers is not equitably estopped from pursuing her claims against American, notwithstanding the arbitration agreement Sawyers entered with Herrin.
- 5. Sawyers is not precluded from pursuing her claims against American based on American's allegation that it is Herrin's agent.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 18, 2003, Sawyers financed a 2002 Ford Explorer from Gregory Walker, a salesman and agent of Herrin-Gear Chevrolet Co., Inc. ("Herrin"), at Herrin's dealership in Jackson, Mississippi. In addition to selling Sawyers a 2002 Ford Explorer, Gregory Walker sold Sawyers a GAP Asset Protection Deficiency Waiver Addendum ("Addendum"). A specimen copy of this Addendum can be found at Record - 128 and Appellant's R.E. Tab 3. Apparently, Sawyers signed an arbitration agreement with Herrin on the same date. A copy of this arbitration agreement can be found at Record - 38 and Appellant's R.E. Tab 5.

On August 18, 2003, at Herrin's dealership in Jackson, Mississippi, Gregory Walker promised Sawyers that the Addendum insured Sawyers for the difference between the amount her primary insurer pays the automobile financier for a total loss to her vehicle and the total amount Sawyers owes the financier of the vehicle at the time of the total loss, with no exceptions. Presumably Gregory Walker received a commission for each consumer that bought an Addendum. In December 2007, Sawyers' financed vehicle sustained a total loss. Sawyers made a claim under the Addendum and Appellee American Bankers Insurance Company of Florida ("American"), allegedly Herrin's third party administrator for its Addedum insurance policies, refused to pay Sawyers' claim. On March 26, 2008, Sawyers's attorney asked Gregory Walker to produce a copy of all documents Sawyers signed when she financed the covered vehicle from Herrin in August of 2003. Gregory Walker refused to comply.

On April 24, 2008, Sawyers filed her Complaint against Appellees in the Circuit Court of

¹ A "specimen" copy of this Addendum is attached because Respondents did not provide Sawyers with a legible copy of the signed Addendum at issue in this litigation. An illegible copy of the signed Addendum can be found at Record - 13 and Appellant's R.E. Tab 4.

Wayne County, Mississippi. A copy of the Complaint can be found at Record - 4 and Appellant's R.E. Tab 6. In the Complaint, Sawyers alleged Herrin committed actual fraud in the sale of the Addendum to Sawyers. Under the belief that Herrin sold her an insurance policy issued by American, Sawyers sued American in the same Complaint for breach of contract and bad faith. Herrin and American filed motions to compel arbitration. Sawyers argued that the arbitration agreement with Herrin was unenforceable as to both Appellees because it is substantively unconscionable and the principal purpose of the contract is to directly furnish aid and protection to appellees' illegal enterprise. Sawyers argued that the arbitration agreement was unenforceable as to American because it was a non-signatory and Mississippi law on equitable estoppel did not prevent Sawyers from pursuing her claims against American in Mississippi Court. On July 30, 2008, the Circuit Court of Wayne County granted both Respondents' Motion to Compel Arbitration. The Order of the Circuit Court of Wayne County can be found at Record 152 and Appellant's R.E. Tab 2. Since, the lower court's ruling was in error, the Petitioner filed a petition pursuant to Mississippi Rule of Appellate Procedure 5, which a three judge panel of this Court granted on September 17, 2008.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Wayne County Circuit Court should be reversed because the arbitration agreement between Sawyers and Herrin is substantively unconscionable, and American has not established that Sawyers is equitably estopped from pursuing her claims against American in a court of law. The agreement between Sawyers and Herrin is substantively unconscionable because only Sawyers is required to arbitrate her disputes while Herrin is free to seek a remedy against Sawyers in court before a judge and jury. Moreover, the arbitration agreement unlawfully restricts Sawyers' ability to recover damages other than her special damages and requires Sawyers to arbitrate her claims in Jackson, rather then in Wayne County, where the cause of action accrued and where Plaintiff filed her complaint.

Assuming *arguendo*, this Court finds that Sawyers' arbitration agreement with Herrin is not substantively unconscionable, then this Court still cannot enforce it because the arbitration agreement's purpose is to directly furnish aid and protection to Herrin and American's illegal enterprise of administering unregistered insurance in Mississippi.

Assuming *arguendo* this Court finds that Sawyers arbitration agreement with Herrin-Gear is not substantively unconscionable, and does not directly furnish aid and protection to Herrin and American's illegal enterprise of administering unregistered insurance in Mississippi, since the arbitration agreement is clear that it was only intended to apply to disputes between Herrin and Sawyers, American cannot compel Sawyers to arbitrate her dispute with American based on the agreement with Herrin.

Finally, assuming *arguendo* this Court rejects all of Sawyers' other arguments, since

American failed to prove facts in support of (1) a belief or reliance on some representation of

Sawyers, (2) a change of position by American as a result thereof, and (3) determent or prejudice caused to American by Sawyers by the change in position, equitable estoppel does not apply to permit American to force Sawyers to arbitrate her disputes with American pursuant to Sawyers' agreement with Herrin.

ARGUMENT

A trial court's grant of a motion to compel arbitration is a question of law; therefore the Mississippi Supreme Court applies a *de novo* standard of review on appeal. *Smith ex rel. Smith v. Captain D's, LLC*, 963 So.2d 1116, 1119 (Miss. 2007).

In this case, the lower court held: (1) that the arbitration agreement was enforceable even though the agreement required only Sawyers to arbitrate all claims and allowed Herrin to sue Sawyers for repossession and replevin of the financed vehicle before a judge and jury, (2) the limitation of Herrin's and American's liability to Sawyers' actual damages was not unconscionable, (3) the Addendum was not insurance under Mississippi law, and therefore, the arbitration agreement could be enforced, (4) American could enforce Sawyers agreement with Herrin because American was Herrin's agent, and (5) American could enforce Sawyers agreement with Herrin because Petitioner's claims against Appellees were intertwined and it is much more expedient and reasonable to resolve the claims together in arbitration. Since the lower court was in error, its Order granting Respondents' Motion to Compel Arbitration must be reversed.

1. The Lower Court Erred in Enforcing the Arbitration Agreement Because it is Substantively Unconscionable

The arbitration agreement is substantively unconscionable because it only requires

Sawyers to arbitrate disputes with Herrin, while allowing Herrin to pursue its claims against Sawyers before a judge and jury. Before the Circuit Court of Wayne County, Sawyers argued the following terms of the arbitration agreement rendered it substantively unconscionable under Mississippi law:

- A. The arbitration agreement provides an avenue for Herrin Gear to pursue its claims in a court of law, while requiring Plaintiff to arbitrate all claims. See first sentence of third paragraph on arbitration agreement which states, "Except for an action by [Herrin Gear] to obtain possession and/or replevin of the vehicle, any controversy or claim between [Plaintiff] and Herrin Gear ... shall be resolved by binding arbitration"
- B. The arbitration agreement requires the arbitration be held in the city where Herrin Gear is located. See last sentence of third paragraph on arbitration agreement which states, "Any arbitration proceeding shall be conducted in the city where [Herrin Gear's] dealership is located."
- C. The arbitrator cannot award Plaintiff damages for attorney's fees, lost wages, mental anguish, costs, interest or punitive damages. See second sentence of fourth paragraph on arbitration agreement which states, "To the extent permitted by law, the arbitrator shall have no authority to award punitive damages or other damages not measured by the prevailing party's actual damages and may not, in any event, make any ruling, finding or award that does not conform to the terms and conditions of the Agreements."
- D. Plaintiff is required to give up her right to a judge and jury, while Herrin Gear is not. See paragraph six of arbitration agreement which states, "[Plaintiff] acknowledge[s] and agrees that by agreeing to arbitrate as set forth herein, [Plaintiff] give[s] up the right to go to court and the right to a jury trial." No such provision exists for Herrin Gear, who is free to seek a bench or jury trial.

The lower court rejected Sawyers' claims that the arbitration agreement was substantively unconscionable. Regarding the provision in the arbitration agreement that permits Herrin to use the courts to obtain possession and/or replevin of the vehicle while requiring Sawyers to arbitrate her disputes against Herrin, the lower court referred to this as "an extremely narrow exception" to the arbitration agreement. This is not an extremely narrow exception to the arbitration agreement as the lower court held. Other than an action to obtain possession or replevin of Sawyers's

vehicle, what other type of actions would Herrin ever file against Sawyers? All disputes between Herrin and Sawyers could be litigated by Herrin in Court seeking return of the vehicle for any alleged failure to pay. Thus, Herrin's promise to arbitrate claims against Sawyers is illusiory.

The lower court then held that "[e]ven if an arbitration agreement creates difference [sic] obligations of the parties, mutuality of obligations is not required under Mississippi law; therefore, the arbitration agreement is enforceable." In support of this contention, the lower court cited *McKenzie Check Advance of Mississippi, LLC v. Hardy*, 866 So.2d 446, 452 (Miss. 2004). In *Hardy*, the Circuit Court of Jasper County held that the arbitration agreement at issue was unenforceable under Mississippi law because, *inter alia*, it lacked mutuality of obligation. The Supreme Court of Mississippi reversed holding that mutuality of obligation was not an issue because the agreement in fact required both parties to arbitrate all claims, except those within the jurisdiction of small claims court, wherein either party could pursue judicial remedy in Court. The *Hardy* Court then held in *dicta* that "[p]ursuant to Mississippi law, mutuality of obligation is not required for a contract to be enforceable as long as there is consideration." *Id.* at 453.

In support of this *dicta*, the *Hardy* court cited *Clinton Serv. Co. v. Thornton*, 100 So.2d 863, 866 (Miss. 1958), *Prigden v. Green Tree Financial Servicing Corp.*, 88 F.Supp.2d 655 (S.D. Miss. 2000), *First Family Financial Services, Inc. V. Fairley*, 173 So.2d 565, 572 (S.D. Miss. 2001), *Murphy v. AmSouth Bank*, 269 F.Supp.2d 749 (S.D. Miss. 2003), and *Raesly v. Grand Housing, Inc.*, 105 F.Supp.2d 562, 570 (S.D. Miss. 2000). However, *Thornton*, the Mississippi case each of these United States district court opinions relied upon to state that a lack of mutuality of obligations to arbitrate between parties to an arbitration agreement is not required, did not hold that mutuality of obligation is not required for a contract to be enforceable.

In *Thornton*, the Mississippi Supreme Court held that an option contract was enforceable because while "[t]he requirement of mutuality of obligation <u>may be a prerequisite of the formation of a valid bilateral contract</u>, [] there is neither mutuality of obligation or of remedy in a unilateral contract." *Id.* (Emphasis added). Thus, the arbitration agreement in the case *sub judice* requires mutuality of obligation because it is a bilateral contract. What is more one-sided than a bilateral contract requiring only one party to perform? Moreover, a statement that qualifies as *dicta*, such as the statement regarding mutuality of obligations in *Hardy*, does not have a binding effect on subsequent Mississippi decisions. *Collins by Smith v. McMurry*, 539 So.2d 127, 130 (Miss. 1989).

Now, *Hardy* was decided in 2004. In 2005, the Mississippi Supreme Court decided *Pitts* v. *Watkins*, 905 So.2d 553 (Miss. 2005). The *Pitts* court reversed the circuit court of Lowndes Couty's and held that the arbitration agreement at issue was substantively unconscionable because it provided an avenue for the drafter of the arbitration agreement, a home inspector, to pursue his claims in a court of law, while requiring the homeowners to arbitrate their claims. The *Pitts* court also held that the limitation of liability clause in the arbitration agreement which limited the home inspector's liability to \$265 made the arbitration agreement substantively unconscionable because it left the homeowners with no adequate remedy. As in *Pitts*, the arbitration agreement limits the Respondents' liability to Sawyers' actual damages, only requires Sawyers to arbitrate her claims, and requires Sawyers only to give up her right to a judge and jury.

Before the Circuit Court of Wayne County, Sawyers argued that the agreement was unconscionable, not void due to lack of mutuality of obligations. The Mississippi legislature

passed Miss. Code Ann. § 75-2-302 which allows the court to choose between refusing to enforce any unconscionable agreement or striking provisions of the agreement to avoid an unconscionable result. Thus, Mississippi law recognizes unconscionablity as a contract defense separate and apart from a mutuality of obligations defense. In this case, even were this Court to strike the limitation of liability portion of the arbitration agreement, the arbitration agreement does not survive if the court strikes the provisions of the arbitration agreement that require only Sawyers to arbitrate her claims. Striking these provisions of arbitration agreement would remove all language requiring Sawyers to arbitrate her claims. Moreover, this Court is not authorized under Mississippi law to rewrite the arbitration agreement to pass muster against a claim that the arbitration agreement is unconscionable. As such, under *Pitts* and Mississippi statutory law on unconscionability, the arbitration agreement at issue in this case cannot be enforced by Herrin or American. The Court erred by enforcing the arbitration agreement due to its one-sidedness and substantive unconscionability.

2. The Lower Court Erred in Enforcing the Arbitration Agreement Because its Principal Purpose is to Directly Furnish Aid and Protection to Appellees' Illegal Enterprise of Administering Unregistered Insurance

The subject arbitration agreement is also unenforceable because the principal purpose of the arbitration agreement is to directly furnish aid and protection to an illegal enterprise, namely, as discussed below, American and Herrin's agreement to sell and administrate unregistered insurance while keeping the Courts and the Mississippi Insurance Commissioner from regulating this illegal insurance by hiding behind the unconscionable arbitration agreement at issue in this litigation.

The Addendum is a contract of insurance between Sawyers and Herrin. Herrin and

American have a contractual relationship whereby American either administrates, reinsures the contractual responsibilities of Herrin under the Addendum, or does both. Herrin has never filed a registration statement with the Mississippi commissioner of insurance nor has it filed the Addendum with the Mississippi insurance commissioner. As discussed below, these are illegal acts, and the arbitration agreement cannot be enforced because "the principal purpose of the [arbitration agreement] directly furnishes aid and protection to an illegal enterprise." *See Smith* v. *Simon*, 224 So.2d 565, 566 (Miss. 1969). The illegal enterprise is American and Herrin's agreement to sell and administrate insurance, i.e. the Addendum, without complying with Mississippi insurance law.

Miss. Code Ann. § 83-5-5 defines an insurance company as a person or corporation engaged as principals in the business of insurance or guaranteeing the obligations of others. It further defines an insurance contract as:

[a]n agreement by which one party for a consideration promises to pay money or its equivalent, or to do some act of value to the assured, upon destruction, loss, or injury of something in which the assured or other party has an interest as indemnity therefor.

A review of the Addendum clearly displays that it is an insurance contract pursuant to Mississippi law as it indemnifies Sawyers for the difference between what her primary insurer pays on a total loss to the vehicle she financed from Herrin, and Sawyers' remaining balance on the vehicle she financed from Herrin. Therefore, Herrin is an insurance company as provided in Miss Code Ann. § 83-5-1 because it conducts the business of insurance in Mississippi.

Miss. Code Ann. § 83-6-3 states every insurance company authorized to do business in this state and which is a member of an insurance holding company system is required to register

with the Mississippi commissioner of insurance. Miss. Code Ann. § 83-6-1 defines an insurance holding company system as two or more affiliated persons, one or more of which is an insurer. It further defines an insurer as only those companies subject to the jurisdiction of the commissioner as provided in Miss. Code Ann. § 83-5-1. American and Herrin form an insurance company holding system pursuant to Mississippi law and both are subject to the jurisdiction of the commissioner.

Herrin has never filed a registration statement pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 83-6-3 and is therefore in "violation of sections 83-6-3 through 83-6-19." Miss. Code Ann. § 83-6-19. Miss Code Ann. § 83-6-35 provides that willful violations of the requirement to file a registration statement are criminal violations. Moreover, by failing to file all policy forms for the insurance policy it sold to Plaintiff with the commissioner of insurance, Herrin violated Miss. Code Ann. § 83-2-7, the violation of which gives rise to criminal penalties as a misdemeanor pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 83-5-85.

Notwithstanding these arguments, the Circuit Court of Wayne County held that the Addendum is not insurance because the Mississippi insurance commissioner, in a 2000 Bulletin, did not take a position as to whether a GAP Auto Protection Insurance Addendum contract that is sold to the consumer is insurance. The Mississippi Supreme Court has not had the opportunity to rule on whether a GAP auto insurance Addendum is insurance because the entities selling this type of insurance force consumers to sign arbitration clauses. This factor makes it difficult for an insured to find competent legal counsel to represent her interests and protects those selling illegal insurance from facing regulation. Moreover, the reason the Mississippi legislature has not amended any statutes in response to the Mississippi commissioner of insurance's 2000 bulletin

and the unauthorized sale of insurance by enterprises, such as the one conducted by American and Herrin in the instant case, is because the statutes already unambiguously identify the Addendum as an insurance contract. Therefore, the lower court's holding that the arbitration agreement can be enforced because it is not insurance should be reversed.

3. The Arbitration Agreement is Clear that it Only Applies to Claims Between Sawyers and Herrin.

The subject arbitration agreement is between Andria Sawyers ("Buyer(s)/Lessee(s)") and Herrin Gear ("Dealer") and provides that only claims of Buyer against Dealer are to be arbitrated. In Mississippi, when the language of the contract is clear as to who can compel arbitration, and the party seeking to compel arbitration is not one of the persons who the contract identifies as having a right to compel arbitration, nor are they a signatory, it is proper to deny the party's Motion to Compel Arbitration. *Qualcomm, Inc. v. American Wireless License Group*, LLC, 980 So.2d 261, 269 (Miss. 2007). *See also Andrews v. Ford*, 990 So.2d 820 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008).

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