#### IN THE SUPREME COUL

NO. 2ι

#### ANDRIA SAA APPELLAN .

VS

# HERRIN-GEAR CHEVROLET CO., INC., AND AMERICAN BANKERS INSURANCE COMPANY OF FLORIDA APPELLEES

2008 1A1370 SCTE

#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following list of persons or parties have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the judges of the Supreme Court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Honorable Robert W. Bailey, Circuit Judge
- 2. Timothy J. Matusheski and Eric Tiebauer, Counsel for Andria Sawyers

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Order compelling arbitration is a non-final order from which there is no right of appeal under the Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure. An appeal from the trial court's Order in this case is also contrary to the text and the policy of the Federal Arbitration Act ("FAA"). Therefore, the appeal should be dismissed.

With respect to the merits of this appeal, there is no question that the trial court's Order compelling arbitration should be affirmed. The Arbitration Agreement is not substantively

unconscionable. Sawyers' allegation that the Arbitration Agreement gives Herrin-Gear unlimited access to the courts while denying Sawyers' ability to do the same is simply incorrect. In actuality, the Arbitration Agreement provides a narrow, limited right for Herrin-Gear to seek judicial relief for actions to obtain possession or replevin of the vehicle, but, in all other respects, requires Herrin-Gear to arbitrate any claims against Sawyers. Under Mississippi law, even if the Arbitration Agreement creates different obligations of the parties, mutuality of obligations is not required law to enforce an Arbitration Agreement. Furthermore, the Arbitration Agreement does not restrict or limit damages as alleged by Sawyers. Moreover, while the Arbitration Agreement does require Sawyers to arbitrate her claims in Jackson, where she purchased her vehicle, no hardship can be or was demonstrated to this Court or the trial court.

Herrin-Gear and American Bankers are not involved in an illegal enterprise. The Mississippi Department of Insurance has opined that GAP Waiver contracts are not insurance. Therefore, the sale of GAP Waiver by Herrin-Gear is not a violation of any insurance or other laws within the State of Mississippi. Furthermore, Herrin-Gear and American Bankers do not form a holding company as alleged by Sawyers. They are merely two individual companies that do business with each other.

Finally, the theories of agency and equitable estoppel enable American Bankers to enforce the Arbitration Agreement in question as the claims against American Bankers are dependent upon the purchase of the GAP Waiver by Sawyers from Herrin-Gear during the transaction. Sawyers has no contractual relationship with American Bankers. American Bankers, as Herrin-Gear's agent, is being sued for its alleged failure to meet Herrin-Gear's obligations to Sawyers. Therefore, American Bankers should be entitled to rely upon Herrin-Gear's agreement

with Sawyers in defense of such claims as the "claims against Herrin-Gear and [American Bankers] are clearly inter-related and intertwined." RV2, 159.

For these reasons, which are elaborated herein, this Court should dismiss the appeal, or it should affirm the trial court's order which directed Sawyers to submit all of her claims to arbitration.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### I. THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER WAS NOT FINAL.

Two types of appeals are allowed in Mississippi from a trial court - an appeal as of right or an interlocutory appeal by permission. Only final judgments are appealable as of right under Mississippi law, and Miss. R. App. P. 4(a) provides the time within which such an appeal must be filed. However, Rule 4 does not apply in this case, because the order entered by the trial court was not final. Instead, Miss. R. App. P. 5 applies to this appeal, and provides, in pertinent part:

An appeal from an interlocutory order may be sought if a substantial basis exists for a difference of opinion on a question of law as to which appellate resolution may:

- (1) Materially advance the termination of the litigation and avoid exceptional expense to the parties; or
- (2) Protect a party from substantial and irreparable injury; or
- (3) Resolve an issue of general importance in the administration of justice.

Miss. R. App. 5(a). In this case, the trial court granted Herrin-Gear's and American Bankers' motions to compel arbitration, but did not dismiss the action. As such, there has been no final order issued. Moreover, Sawyers acknowledges that the trial court's order is interlocutory and not final by seeking permission to appeal.

#### II. INTERLOCUTORY APPEALS ARE PROHIBITED BY THE FEDERAL ARBITRATION ACT.

Sawyers' interlocutory appeal is prohibited by the FAA, 9 U.S.C. § 16. In Southland Corp. v. Keating, 465 U.S. 1 (1984), the Supreme Court held that the substantive provisions of the FAA apply in state and federal courts. Id. at 12 (the FAA "creates a body of federal substantive law" which is "applicable in state and federal court") (quoting Moses H. Cone Memorial Hospital v. Mercury Construction Corp., 460 U.S. 1, 24 (1983)). Section 2 of the FAA applies where there is "a contract evidencing a transaction involving [interstate] commerce." Allied-Bruce Terminix Cos., Inc. v. Dobson, 513 U.S. 265, 277 (1995) (emphasis in original). The arbitration agreement at issue in this case evidences a transaction involving interstate commerce, and Sawyers has never alleged otherwise. Sawyers signed an agreement which contained language expressly invoking the FAA. RV1, 24. Specifically, the agreement contained the following language:

... shall be resolved by binding arbitration administered by the Better Business Bureau ("BBB") in accordance with (1) BBB's Commercial Arbitration Rules; (2) the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. § 1, et seq. (1947, as amended).

Id. In addition to the acknowledged applicability of the FAA in the agreement, the transaction at issue involved interstate commerce because the Sawyers is a citizen of Mississippi, the transaction occurred in Mississippi, and Sawyers purchased a vehicle manufactured outside of Mississippi by Ford Motor Company and placed into the stream of commerce. See Rollins, Inc. v. Foster, 991 F. Supp. 1426, 1430 (M.D. Ala. 1998).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See also Southland Corp., 465 U.S. at 15 ("[S]ince the overwhelming proportion of all civil litigation in this country is in the state courts, we cannot believe Congress intended to limit the Arbitration Act to disputes subject only to federal court jurisdiction. Such an interpretation would frustrate Congressional intent ...") (emphasis in original) (footnote omitted).

The appealability of arbitration orders under the FAA is governed by 9 U.S.C. § 16. "The broad purpose of section 16 was to implement Congress' 'deliberate determination that appeal rules should reflect a strong policy favoring arbitration." Stedor Enterprises, Ltd. v. Armtex, Inc., 947 F.2d 727, 730 (4th Cir. 1991) (emphasis added). Congress effectuated this policy in two ways: "First, an order that favors litigation over arbitration...is immediately appealable, even if interlocutory in nature." Stedor, 947 F.2d at 930 (citing 9 U.S.C. § 16(a)(1) and (2)). Second, "Congress sought to prevent parties from frustrating arbitration through lengthy preliminary appeals" by providing that, if the trial court determines that arbitration is called for, "the court system's interference with the arbitral process will terminate then and there, leaving the arbitration free to go forward." Id. (citation omitted; emphasis added). Thus, section 16 "provides in general that there may be no appeal from the proarbitration determination until after the arbitration has gone forward to a final award." Stedor, 947 F.2d at 730 (emphasis added). As observed in Filanto, S.P.A. v. Chilewich International Corp., 984 F.2d 58 (2d Cir. 1993), "the pro-arbitration tilt of the statute requires that, with respect to embedded actions, the party opposing arbitration must bear the initial consequence of an erroneous district court decision requiring arbitration." Id. at 61.<sup>2</sup>

As amended, section 16 of the FAA provides that:

- (a) An appeal may be taken from--
  - (1) an order--
    - (A) refusing a stay of any action under section 3 of this title,
    - (B) denying a petition under section 4 of this title to order arbitration to proceed,
    - (C) denying an application under section 206 of this title to compel arbitration,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Unlike an "independent" arbitration action in which the sole issue in the litigation is arbitrability, an "embedded" action is one where, like here, the arbitrability issue is embedded in a broader action usually encompassing the merits of the parties' dispute. *See Stedor* 947 F.2d at 731.

- (D) confirming or denying confirmation of an award or partial award, or
- (E) modifying, correcting, or vacating an award;
- (2) an interlocutory order granting, continuing, or modifying an injunction against an arbitration that is subject to this title; or
- (3) a final decision with respect to an arbitration that is subject to this title.
- (b) Except as otherwise provided in section 1292(b) of title 28, an appeal may <u>not</u> be taken from an interlocutory order--
  - (1) granting a stay of any action under section 3 of this title;
  - (2) directing arbitration to proceed under section 4 of this title;
  - (3) compelling arbitration under section 206 of this title; or
  - (4) refusing to enjoin an arbitration that is subject to this title.

#### 9 U.S.C. § 16 (emphasis added).

Thus, section 16(b)(2) of the FAA expressly prohibits the appeal of an interlocutory order compelling arbitration. Consequently, the Mississippi Supreme Court has concluded that it does not have jurisdiction to entertain appeals of interlocutory orders granting motions to compel arbitration. Banks v. City Finance Company, 825 So.2d 642 (Miss. 2002). In Banks, the trial court compelled arbitration but did not dismiss the claims or end the litigation on its merits. Therefore, the Mississippi Supreme Court held that the order compelling arbitration must be considered interlocutory and not final. As such, the Court determined that the matter was not appealable.

Numerous other courts have held that orders compelling arbitration may not be appealed until final. See e.g., Stumbo v. Phillip Morris, USA, 244 S.W.3d 116, 120 (Ky. App. 2008) (order compelling arbitration and staying case was not final for purposes of appeal); In re Palacios, 221 S.W.3d 564, 565 (Tex. 2006) (order compelling arbitration appealable if order dismisses underlying litigation so it is final rather than interlocutory); In re Pisgah Contractors, Inc., 117 F.3d 133, 135 (4th Cir. 1997) ("except as provided in 28 U.S.C. § 1292(b), an appeal may not be taken from an interlocutory order in favor of arbitration over litigation until after the

arbitration has proceeded to a final award"); Humphrey v. Prudential Securities Incorporated, 4 F.3d 313, 319 (4th Cir. 1993) (holding that the appellate court has no subject matter jurisdiction to review orders granting arbitration and staving the case); Jeske v. Brooks, 875 F.2d 71, 73 (4th Cir. 1989) (holding the appellate court lacks jurisdiction to review the trial court's order compelling arbitration of state law claims); Purdy v. Monex International Ltd., 867 F.2d 1521, 1523 (5th Cir. 1989) (appellate court has no jurisdiction to review order compelling arbitration and staying the litigation); Dakota Wesleyan University v. HPG International, Inc., 560 N.W.2d 921, 922 (S.D. 1997) (holding that state appellate court is without jurisdiction to review order compelling arbitration in embedded case); Berger Farms v. First Interstate Bank of Oregon, N.A., 939 P.2d 64, 69 (Or. Ct. App. 1997) (section 16 of the FAA prohibits appeals from state trial court orders that favor arbitration over litigation and permits appeals from orders that favor litigation over arbitration), rev'd on other grounds, 995 P.2d 1159 (Or. 2000); Marr v. Smith Barney, Harris Upham & Co., 842 P.2d 801, 804 (Or. Ct. App. 1992) ("[L]egislative history and the sense of the statutory scheme indicate that Congress intended to prevent interlocutory appeals from orders that favor arbitration over litigation.").

The result under state law is the same as that under federal law – this appeal should be dismissed. Even if there were a conflict, however, it is well established that the FAA would preempt any contrary state law. *Allied-Bruce Terminix Cos. v. Dobson*, 513 U.S. 265, 272 (1995) (holding that the FAA preempts state law). Accordingly, any state procedure which allowed for the appeal of an interlocutory order compelling arbitration would directly conflict with and frustrate the objectives of the FAA and would therefore be preempted under the Supremacy Clause. *See Stout v. Byrider*, 228 F.3d 709, 715 (6th Cir. 2000) ("The FAA governs all aspects of arbitration procedure and preempts inconsistent state law.") (internal citations

omitted); see also Felder v. Casey, 487 U.S. 131, 138 (1988) (Although "[n]o one disputes the general and unassailable proposition ... that States may establish the rules of procedure governing litigation in their own courts," "[b]y the same token, however, where state courts entertain a federally created cause of action, the 'federal right cannot be defeated by the forms of local practice.") (citation omitted).

Therefore, under this authority, the Mississippi Supreme Court should dismiss Sawyer's interlocutory appeal. As in *Banks*, the trial court in the case at bar simply entered an order compelling arbitration. RV2, 152-160. It did not dismiss the matter or end the litigation on its merits. Therefore, the order compelling arbitration is not appealable as an interlocutory order under Mississippi law and the FAA. Accordingly, there is no question that an appeal in this matter should not be allowed and that Sawyer's appeal should be dismissed.

## III. THE ARBITRATION AGREEMENT IS ENFORCEABLE AND NOT SUBSTANTIVELY UNCONSCIONABLE.

The FAA was enacted in order to establish a broad "federal policy favoring arbitration" mandating that courts "rigorously enforce agreements to arbitrate." East Ford v. Taylor, 826 So.2d 709, 713 (Miss. 2002) (citing Shearson/Am. Exp. Inc. v. McMahon, 482 U.S. 220, 226 (1987)). The Mississippi Supreme Court "has consistently recognized the existence of [the] 'liberal federal policy favoring arbitration agreements,' and has stated that '[it] will respect the right of an individual or entity to agree in advance of a dispute to arbitration or other alternative dispute resolution." Terminix Int'l, Inc. v. Rice, 904 So.2d 1051, 1054 (Miss. 2004). Therefore, "agreements to arbitrate . . . are to be liberally construed so as to encourage the settlement of disputes and the presumption will be indulged in favor of the validity of arbitration proceedings."

Id. at 1054 (quoting Russell v. Performance Toyota, Inc., 826 So.2d 719, 722 (Miss. 2002)).

Thus, "any doubts concerning the scope of arbitrable issues should be resolved in favor of

arbitration, whether the problem at hand is the construction of the contract language itself or an allegation of waiver, delay, or a like defense to arbitrability." *Taylor*, 826 So.2d at 713 (citing *Moses H. Cone Memorial Hosp. v. Mercury Construction Corp.*, 460 U.S. 1 (1983) at 24-25)). Accordingly, a party opposing arbitration bears the burden of establishing any and all defenses to enforcement of the arbitration agreement. *Norwest Fin. Mississippi, Inc. v. McDonald*, 905 So.2d 1187, 1193 (Miss. 2005) (citing *Green Tree Fin. Corp-Alabama v. Randolph*, 531 U.S. 79, 92 (2000)).

An arbitration agreement is enforceable under the FAA if there is a (i) written agreement to arbitrate claims, (ii) a nexus to interstate commerce, and (iii) coverage of the claims by the arbitration clause. 9 U.S.C. § 2. Under the FAA, courts generally conduct a two-pronged inquiry in determining whether claims should be compelled under an arbitration agreement. *Taylor*, 826 So. 2d at 713. The first prong of the inquiry considers, first, whether there is a valid arbitration agreement and, second, whether the dispute falls within the agreement. *Id*. The second prong of the inquiry considers "whether legal constraints external to the parties' agreement foreclosed arbitration of those claims" which include contractual defenses such as fraud, duress and unconscionability. *Id*. at 713

In this case, Sawyers does not dispute that there is a valid, written arbitration agreement or that his claims fall under the Arbitration Agreement.<sup>9</sup> Further, there is no dispute that the

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